FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 9/18/2023 10:20 AM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/18/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>102393-6</u> Division III No. 37545-5-III

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DAVID W. MURPHY, individually and as Personal Representative for the Estate of KATHLEEN J. MURPHY,

Petitioner,

v.

MEDICAL ONCOLOGY ASSOCIATES, P.S., a Washington corporation; ARVIND CHAUDRY, M.D., Ph.D.; and BRUCE CUTTER, M.D.,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Robert A. McGuire, III WSBA #50649 Attorney for Petitioner

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the trial court commit a manifest constitutional error, which resulted in a biased jury, when it failed to strike a venire panelist whose brother had been successfully treated for cancer by one of the defendant doctors?

2. Did the trial court commit a manifest constitutional error, which gave the defendant doctors an unfair advantage in jury selection and resulted in a biased jury, when it failed to strike two venire panelists whose close family members were a former and a then-current patient of one of the doctors?

3. Did the trial court err as a matter of law when it failed to apply RCW 5.60.030 (the deadman's statute) to prohibit testimony by defendant doctors and others about the substance of providers' conversations with Kathleen, the decedent, to obtain her informed consent?

4. Did the trial court abuse its discretion by allowing defendant doctors and others to testify about the substance of informed-consent conversations with Kathleen, the decedent,

even though such testimony was speculative and unduly prejudicial?

5. Did the trial court abuse its discretion by permitting a defense expert witness to testify at length and in detail about the fictional substance of a completely made-up back-and-forth informed-consent conversation that he might have had with Kathleen?

6. Did the cumulative effect of the foregoing errors,even if they were unpreserved, substantially prejudiceMurphy's informed-consent claim and deny him a fair trial onthat claim?

7. Was it an abuse of discretion for the trial court to conclude that the jury could have inferred compliance with informed-consent requirements under Washington law (defeating the first element of plaintiff's informed-consent claim under RCW 7.70.050(1)(a)), based on testimony that both contradicted the court's own finding and was barred by the trial court's own pretrial orders in limine?

8. Was it an abuse of discretion for the trial court to conclude disclosure of all material facts was not required (defeating the first element of plaintiff's informed-consent claim under RCW 7.70.050(1)(a)), based on a patient-harm exception to Washington's informed-consent requirements that was not supported by properly admitted substantial evidence?

9. Was it an abuse of discretion for the trial court to determine the jury could have reasonably inferred that Kathleen would have consented to ABVD treatment "regardless of the risk," given her commitment to a cure (defeating the second and third elements of plaintiff's informed-consent claim under RCW 7.70.050(1)(b) and (1)(c)), despite the complete lack of substantial evidence to support that inference?

10. Was it an abuse of discretion for the trial court to conclude evidence existed showing bleomycin lung toxicity was not the cause of Kathleen's death (defeating causation, the fourth element of plaintiff's informed-consent claim under

RCW 7.70.050(1)(d)), based solely upon a conclusory statement by a defense expert, unsupported by any foundation?

V. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

A. Substantive Facts

In early June 2015, Ms. Kathleen Murphy was diagnosed with Hodgkin's Lymphoma, a highly survivable form of cancer. At the time of her diagnosis, Kathleen was over 65 years old and was suffering from other health conditions, particularly chronic obstructive pulmonary disease ("COPD") and acute renal failure. Because of these health factors, Kathleen's odds of surviving Hodgkin's were estimated to be between 30 and 40 percent. (RP 324, lines 17–19; RP 774, line 21–RP 775, line 25.)

Beginning on June 2, 20215, Kathleen had an initial consultation with Dr. Arvind Chaudhry, one of the cancer doctors at Medical Oncology Associates, P.S. On June 4, 2015, Dr. Chaudhry was unavailable, so Kathleen was seen by Dr. Rajeev Rajendra, another doctor in Dr. Chaudhry's practice. Dr.

Rajendra ordered several tests, including a pulmonary function test to measure lung health. Pending test results, Dr. Rajendra recommended that Kathleen begin four cycles of chemotherapy treatment using a drug protocol called ABVD. (RP 384–88.)

"ABVD" is a combination of four drugs—adriamycin, bleomycin, vinblastine, and dacarbazine—often used to treat Hodgkin's lymphoma. These drugs fight the cancer, but they are also themselves toxic, each in their own way. Bleomycin poses up to a forty-six percent chance of causing lung toxicity, (RP 824, line 23–RP 825, line 4), which leads to stiffened lungs and can produce up to twenty-seven percent mortality, (RP 397; RP 822, line 10–RP 823, line 3.) The risk of bleomycin toxicity is higher in older patients, (RP 601), and in those with lung and kidney problems like COPD and renal dysfunction. (RP 304– **05**.) Omitting bleomycin from the ABVD protocol reduces the risks of bleomycin lung toxicity, but it comes with a trade-off since using bleomycin in ABVD improves overall survival rates by between zero and five percent compared to using AVD alone. (RP 343, lines 10–18; RP 617, line 19–RP 618, line 7.)

Recognizing the potential threat of lung toxicity for Kathleen, Dr. Rajendra noted that, if test results showed that she already had "an existing underlying pulmonary disease, we could omit the bleomycin." (RP 388, lines 7–10.)

Dr. Chaudhry resumed care at Kathleen's next appointment on June 6, 2015, by which time her pulmonary function test had come back, showing results that were abnormally low. (RP 391–94.) These results supported Dr. Chaudhry's testimony at trial that Kathleen had COPD. (RP 401, lines 1–5.) Kathleen's other lab results showed kidney (renal) dysfunction, (RP 403, lines 20–23), which was another risk factor for use of bleomycin.

Despite test results showing contraindications for Kathleen taking bleomycin, Dr. Chaudhry adopted Dr. Rajendra's recommendation that Kathleen should pursue ABVD chemotherapy. (RP 404.) Neither Dr. Rajendra nor Dr. Chaudhry recorded advising Kathleen that an alternative protocol to ABVD existed whereby bleomycin could be omitted. (RP 402, lines 4–7; RP 404, lines 22–23.)

Nor did Dr. Chaudhry memorialize telling Kathleen that bleomycin might prevent her from taking a drug called a Neulasta, which is a "colony stimulating factor," a type of drug used to help chemotherapy patients grow white blood cells and better resist infections. (RP 297, line 18–RP 301, line 15; RP 405, lines 6–9; RP 410, line 23–RP 411, line 25.)

Following Dr. Chaudhry's recommendation without having been fully informed of all material considerations, Kathleen started her ABVD chemotherapy on June 6, 2015. (RP 402, lines 8–9; RP 404, line 6–RP 405, line 9; RP 410, line 23– RP 411, line 25.) Although the treatment initially appeared to go well, Kathleen quickly developed febrile neutropenia, which meant she was showing signs of having a serious infection. (RP 416.) This infection proved to be C.difficile, which ultimately led to Kathleen being hospitalized for a period. (RP 432, lines 6–20; RP 475, line 24–RP 476, line 22; RP 1009, line 18–RP 1010, line 17.)

Because she was taking bleomycin, Kathleen could not be given Neulasta to treat her neutropenia. (RP 306, line 16– RP307, line 17; RP 436, lines 1–5.) Instead, she had to have her adriamycin dose reduced, (RP 436, lines 6–10), and she fell behind schedule on her chemotherapy, (RP 312, line 22– RP 313, line 7; RP 435, lines 21–25).

Kathleen had further ABVD treatments on July 2, and July 16. (RP 431, 434.) During this time, she began to develop "crackles" or "rales" in her lungs, (*e.g.*, RP 433, lines 11– RP 435, line 8)—sounds like Velcro being pulled apart—which are one of the tell-tale "alarm bell" signs of bleomycin toxicity developing. (RP 641, lines 12–24; RP 667, line 23–RP 668, line 18; RP 671, lines 5–9; RP 708, lines 4–12; RP 728, lines 13–23; RP 788, lines 7–24.)

On July 30, 2015, due to tension between Dr. Chaudhry and Kathleen's family, Dr. Chaudhry withdrew from treating Kathleen, (RP 437, lines 2–16), and Kathleen's ABVD treatment was postponed, (RP 577, lines 10–20.)

On August 13, 2015, Dr. Bruce Cutter replaced Dr. Chaudhry as Kathleen's oncologist, and she received her next ABVD treatment. (RP 559–62.)

Shortly thereafter, on August 27, after noting diffuse crackles in Kathleen's lower lungs, Dr. Cutter became concerned about bleomycin toxicity. (RP 597, line 17–RP 598, line 14.) Dr. Cutter dropped bleomycin from Kathleen's protocol when she received her next treatment on September 10, 2015. (RP 621, line 6–RP 623, line 12.) Then on September 11, 2015, Dr. Cutter treated Kathleen with Neulasta. (RP 631, line 21–RP 632, line 10.)

Kathleen's condition deteriorated almost immediately. On September 13, 2015, she went to the emergency room in severe respiratory distress and was placed on a ventilator. (RP 637; RP 1090; RP 318, lines 10–24.) The doctor told plaintiff David Murphy over the phone that Kathleen had bleomycin lung toxicity and acute respiratory distress syndrome (or "ARDS"), which put her at a 55-percent chance of dying. (RP 1096, line 23–RP 1098, line 2; RP 1010, line 18–21; see also RP 318, lines 10–20.)

On September 24, Kathleen died. (RP 1099.) Evidence at trial affirmatively showed that her cause of death was ARDS caused by bleomycin toxicity, likely aggravated by the administration of Neulasta. (*E.g.*, RP 867, lines 5–22; RP 870, lines 1–12; RP 866, line 3; RP 889, line 13–RP 890, line 24.)

Testimony at trial showed that Kathleen was never advised about the lung toxicity risks of bleomycin, about the alternative treatment option to omit bleomycin, or about the fact that taking Neulasta would be contraindicated after ABVD treatment because taking Neulasta after bleomycin might worsen the risks of bleomycin lung toxicity. (RP 1023, line 24– RP 1025, line 4; RP 626, line 1–RP 627, line 3.) Evidence at trial showed that all these risks were material and needed to be communicated to a patient as part of the process for obtaining valid informed consent. (RP 607–611, line 8.)

B. Procedural History Relevant To This Appeal Plaintiff David Murphy, acting individually and as personal representative of Kathleen's estate, sued for medical negligence and wrongful death on January 22, 2018, invoking RCW 4.20.060 (survival), RCW 4.20.010, and RCW 4.20.020 (wrongful death). (CR 3; CR 22–23.) Defendants in the case were ultimately narrowed to Dr. Cutter, Dr. Chaudhry, and Medical Oncology Associates, P.S. (CR 26–28; CR 30–33.)

1. Motions in Limine

Murphy filed three motions in limine important to his appeal. First, Murphy invoked RCW 5.60.030 (the deadman's statute) as grounds to bar defendants from testifying about their conversations with Kathleen.² Second, Murphy moved to bar testimony stating legal conclusions. (CR 182.) Third, Murphy moved to bar testimony about a standard of care for obtaining informed consent. (CR 183–84.) The first motion was denied, while the second and third were stipulated and granted. (RP 354–62; RP 213; RP 203–04.)

2. Jury-Selection Errors

During jury selection, (RP 62–183), two venire panelists turned out to be close relatives of a current patient and a former patient of Dr. Chaudhry. The trial court did not strike either panelist, and one was seated as a juror. The handling of these two panelists amounted to constitutional errors.

First, when the trial court asked whether anything would cause any panelists to begin the trial with feelings or concerns

² "The purpose of the deadman's statute is to prevent interested parties from giving self-serving testimony about conversations or transactions with the deceased, because the deceased is not available to rebut such testimony." *Rabb v. Estate of McDermott*, 60 Wn. App. 334, 339, 803 P.2d 819, 822 (1991).

about their participation as a juror, panelist 15 volunteered that his brother had been treated for cancer by defendant Dr. Chaudhry. (RP 81, line 14–21.) The panelist stated that he personally had met Dr. Chaudhry at the impressionable age of 8 or 9 years old, (RP 81, lines 22–24); that the doctor had treated his brother for cancer fifteen years earlier, (RP 81, line 14 through RP 82, line 6); that the panelist's mother was "very close" with Dr. Chaudhry during his brother's illness, (RP 104, lines 6–8); and that his brother had a "good experience with Dr. Chaudhry," (RP 104, line 18).

When the trial court and counsel tried to explore panelist 15's ability to be fair despite his family's history with Dr. Chaudhry, he gave only half-hearted assurances: "I believe I can be fair." (RP 91, line 5); "I don't feel like I would have a bias I would express anyways or even have it internally."

(RP 103, lines 20–21); "I don't think I would have a problem, to answer you very generally." (RP 104, lines 2–3); "I don't believe so because I don't trust anybody's opinion, even my own sometimes, meaning that because my brother had a good experience with Dr. Chaudhry does not mean that I would or that his mother would have." (RP 104, lines 16–19.) Later in voir dire questioning, however, panelist 15's answers became progressively less responsive. (RP 178, line 16–RP 180, line 2.) The trial court did not act *sua sponte* under RCW 2.36.110 to excuse Panelist 15,³ and he was eventually seated as a juror.

Second, voir dire revealed that, like panelist 15, panelist 25 also knew Dr. Chaudhry—this time because one of her close family members (her mother) was one of his *current* cancer patients. (RP 82, lines 8–25.) Again, the trial court did not act *sua sponte* under RCW 2.36.110 to excuse panelist 25 for cause based on her having a relationship to Dr. Chaudhry by virtue of a close family member being in his care. (RP 183–88; RP 188, lines 6–10.) Though panelist 25 was not ultimately

³ RCW 2.36.110 provides in pertinent part that, "It shall be the duty of a judge to excuse from further jury service any juror, who in the opinion of the judge, has manifested unfitness as a juror by reason of bias [or] prejudice...."

seated on the jury, her presence and low seat number on the panel were known to both sides throughout jury selection, which gave the defendant doctors an unfair and insurmountable knowledge advantage over Murphy and his counsel that, in turn, tainted the jury-selection process.

3. Trial Errors

At trial, the court admitted voluminous testimony about the substance of certain conversations between doctors and Kathleen related to informed consent. Many of these conversations are referenced by provider notes in Kathleen's medical records and would have been excluded under RCW 5.60.030 (the deadman's statute), had Murphy's first motion in limine described above properly been granted. Other conversations were either fictionalized or speculative accounts detailing what the doctors presumed to have been said (but not recorded) during the interactions memorialized in Kathleen's medical charts. All this testimony was improper, speculative, and manifestly more prejudicial than probative.

Drs. Chaudhry and Cutter, for example, testified about the substance of multiple conversations with Kathleen to establish their position that they fully disclosed all the risks of bleomycin toxicity and Kathleen's informed consent was obtained. (e.g., RP 1157, lines 4–14 (Dr. Chaudhry.) These two doctors admitted to having no knowledge or recollection of certain conversations with Kathleen, apart from what was recorded in the medical records themselves, (RP 401, line 23– RP 402, line 3; RP 643, lines 11–13; see also RP 640, line24– RP 641, line 6; RP 642, line 11), yet they testified about the substance of several of these conversations anyway, (RP 1156, line 25–RP 1157, line 14; RP 646, line 21–RP 648, line 20; RP 651, line 2–RP 652, line 19). Defense expert Dr. Nichols testified in colorful detail about the substance of conversations with Kathleen that he had no part in and about what he *would* have said, had they been his conversations. (E.g., RP 796, line 6–RP 798, line 16; RP 803, line 8–RP 804, line 11.) Murphy did not object to any of this testimony when it was offered, but

the standing objection created by his loss of the deadman'sstatute motion in limine covered some of it. In his appeal, Murphy invoked the RAP 2.5(a)(3) alongside the cumulativeerror doctrine to cover the rest.

4. **Post-Trial Errors**

At the close of trial, the jury returned a defense verdict. (RP 1294; CR 267–69.) The trial court entered judgment. (CR 367–79.) Murphy timely moved for a new trial limited to the issue of informed consent under CR 59(a)(7). (CR 274–83.) Murphy argued that the record contained "no evidence or reasonable inference from the evidence to justify the jury's verdict on the issue of informed consent." (CR 274.) The doctors responded that substantial evidence supported the verdict on all four elements of the claim under RCW 7.70.050(1). (CR 310–20.) The trial court agreed with the doctors and denied the motion.

The trial court issued a letter opinion first, (CR 388–89), then a written order of denial, (CR 380–82.) The letter opinion identified evidence that supported a defense verdict in a discussion that appeared to track statutory elements of the informed-consent claim—namely, whether informed consent was obtained (or was not required under the circumstances), whether Kathleen would have consented to ABVD treatment if informed of the risks and alternatives, and whether the treatment was the proximate cause of her death. (CR 389.) The order reiterated in conclusory terms that testimony and reasonable inference supported the verdict on these four elements. (CR 381, points 3–5.)

5. Court of Appeals

Murphy timely filed a notice of appeal. (CP 383–98.) Murphy sought reversal on three grounds.

First, Murphy invoked the doctrine of manifest constitutional error under RAP 2.5(a)(3) to argue that unpreserved errors in jury selection had resulted in a tainted jury and deprived him of a fair trial. Second, citing *State v. Clark*, 187 Wn.2d 641, 649, 389 P.3d 462 (2017), Murphy invoked the doctrine of cumulative error, together with the doctrine of manifest constitutional error under RAP 2.5(a)(3), to argue that the trial court's pervasive admission of improper and unduly prejudicial evidence had deprived him of a fair trial as to both preserved *and* unpreserved errors.

Third, Murphy argued that the trial court erroneously denied his CR 59 motion because it misapplied the law and clearly erred by finding that evidence supported the doctors on all four elements of informed consent.

The Court of Appeals rejected Murphy's arguments and affirmed the trial court. (App'x 1.) Murphy timely moved for reconsideration. In response, the Court of Appeals corrected its opinion on one factual matter but otherwise denied the motion on August 17, 2023. (App'x 35.)

VI. ARGUMENT FOR GRANTING REVIEW

Three of RAP 13.4(b)'s considerations governing discretionary review favor granting this Petition for Review.

First, errors of constitutional dimension occurred during jury selection that denied Murphy a fair trial. Such errors involving the fairness of a trial implicate due process and thus raise "a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington," which warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

Second, the Court of Appeals decided that the cumulative-error doctrine does not apply to permit review of unpreserved errors unless the individual unpreserved errors themselves are of constitutional magnitude. (App'x 20–21.) This holding presents a significant constitutional question and conflicts with this Court's observation in *State v. Clark*, 187 Wn.2d at 649, that the presence of cumulative error <u>itself</u> presents the constitutional issue, not the individual errors (which, taken singly, may be harmless). Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(3).

Third, the trial court and Court of Appeals both misinterpreted the substantive requirements of RCW 7.70.050, the statute requiring informed consent for medical treatments. These errors warrant review because they involve an issue of "substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court" under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

A. The Jury-Selection Errors Raise A Significant Question of Constitutional Law

This Court should grant review and determine the lawfulness of the trial court's jury selection process. The presence of even one biased juror will "taint the entire venire" and render a trial unfair. *State v. Momah*, 167 Wn.2d 140, 152, 217 P.3d 321 (2009); *see also State v. Berhe*, 193 Wn.2d 647, 658, 444 P.3d 1172 (2019) ("An 'impartial jury' means 'an unbiased and unprejudiced jury,' and allowing bias or prejudice by even one juror to be a factor in the verdict violates a defendant's constitutional rights and undermines the public's faith in the fairness of our judicial system."). "[I]f the record demonstrates the actual bias of a juror, seating the biased juror was by definition a manifest error." *State v. Irby*, 187 Wn. App. 183, 193, 347 P.3d 1103 (2015). "The presence of a biased juror cannot be harmless; the error requires a new trial without a showing of prejudice." *Irby*, 187 Wn. App. at 193. "A trial judge has an independent obligation to protect that right, regardless of inaction by counsel...." *Id.* at 192–93; *see also* RCW 2.36.110.

By not *sua sponte* striking venire panelist 15, who became a juror, and panelist 25, whose presence in the venire unfairly advantaged the defendant doctors, the trial court seated a biased jury. Panelist number 15 should have been excused after his voir dire testimony revealed that he, his brother, and his mother had a positive history with one of the defendant doctors in the case.

Panelist 25 should have been struck for cause along with panelist 15 because leaving two different relatives of Dr.

Chaudhry's patients in the venire panel deprived Murphy of a fundamentally fair jury-selection process. Since panelists 15 and 25 were closely related to patients of Dr. Chaudhry, the defendants had the unfair advantage during jury selection of access to Dr. Chaudhry's exclusive knowledge about how his former and current patients—panelist 15 and 25's relatives fared during the entire course of his care for them. Murphy not only lacked access to this information, but his counsel could not realistically hope to learn enough through the abbreviated process of voir dire questioning to level the playing field. Since both panelists had a good chance of being seated on the jury due to their low seat numbers, and since panelist 15 actually was seated on the jury, the harm from this unfairness was real.

These jury-selection errors were of constitutional magnitude. The constitutional right of due process "requires a fair trial in a fair tribunal." *State v. Blizzard*, 195 Wn. App. 717, 722, 381 P.3d 1241 (2016). Murphy's right to a fundamentally fair proceeding was violated when he was placed at an unfair

disadvantage in jury selection and then saddled with a biased jury. This Court should grant review of these jury-selection issues under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

B. The Cumulative-Error Ruling Involves A Constitutional Question And Conflicts With *Clark*

This Court should grant review to determine whether the Court of Appeals erred by holding that the cumulative-error doctrine precludes review of unpreserved errors even when RAP 2.5(a)(3)'s doctrine of manifest constitutional error has been invoked.

As this Court explained in *State v. Clark*, the cumulativeerror doctrine permits reversal when "multiple trial errors, standing alone, might not be of sufficient gravity to constitute grounds for a new trial, [but] the combined effect of the accumulation of errors most certainly requires a new trial."" *State v. Clark*, 187 Wn.2d at 649.⁴ Importantly for this Petition, *Clark* recognized that cumulative error implicates <u>constitutional</u> concerns because pervasive error denies a party a fair trial. *Clark*, 187 Wn.2d at 649.

Despite *Clark*, decisions of the courts of appeals have repeatedly held that the existence of cumulative error does not permit the review of unpreserved issues on appeal. *See, e.g.*, *Rookstool*, 12 Wn. App. 2d at 311; *State v. Murry*, 13 Wn. App. 2d 542, 553, 465 P.3d 330 (2020) ("Only if an argument is properly presented to the trial court by timely objection or timely posttrial motion will we consider the cumulative impact of multiple errors.") (citing *Rookstool*), *overruled on other grounds*, *State v. Canela*, No. 100029-4, 2022 Wash. LEXIS 159, at *15 (Mar. 17, 2022).

Murphy appealed a series of errors that resulted in the admission of voluminous testimony about the substance of

⁴ "[C]umulative error applies to civil cases. Like criminal litigants, civil litigants are entitled to fair trials." *Rookstool v. Eaton*, 12 Wn. App. 2d 301, 311, 457 P.3d 1144 (2020).

certain conversations between doctors and Kathleen related to informed consent. Many of these conversations are referenced by provider notes in Kathleen's medical records. All this problematic testimony manifestly should have been excluded, either under RCW 5.60.030 (the deadman's statute), because it was obviously speculative, or because it was manifestly more prejudicial than probative. That some of these clear errors were not preserved by timely objections is why Murphy invoked RAP 2.5(a)(3) in conjunction with the cumulative-error doctrine.

The Court of Appeals justified relying on cases subordinating cumulative-error review to preservation concerns, instead of adhering to *Clark*'s statement that cumulative error is constitutional in character (and thus amenable to review under RAP 2.5(a)(3) even if incompletely preserved), by distinguishing individual errors from the "cumulative error" they comprise and requiring all individual errors themselves to be constitutional in character. This rationale, however, directly

conflicts with *Clark*, which recognizes that constituent errors contributing to cumulative error individually "might not be of sufficient gravity to constitute grounds for a new trial." *Clark*, 187 Wn.2d at 649.

The proper interplay between cumulative-error doctrine and application of RAP 2.5(a)(3) to unpreserved constitutent errors giving rise to the cumulative error affecting the fairness of a trial should be clarified. This Court should grant review of these issues under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(3).

C. The CR 59 Informed-Consent Ruling Involves An Issue Of Substantial Public Interest

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