FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/18/2023 2:11 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 1023936

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DAVID W. MURPHY, as Personal Representative for the Estate of KATHLEEN J. MURPHY,

Petitioner,

٧.

MEDICAL ONCOLOGY ASSOCIATES, P.S., a Washington corporation; ARVIND CHAUDHRY, M.D., Ph.D., BRUCE CUTTER, M.D.,

Respondents.

## RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Amber L. Pearce, WSBA No. 31626 FLOYD, PFLUEGER & RINGER, P.S. 3101 Western Avenue, Suite 400 Seattle, WA 98121

Telephone: (206) 441-4455 Facsimile: (206) 441-8484

Attorneys for Respondents

### **

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

### IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. The Court of Appeals correctly held that there was no error by failing to exclude jurors *sua sponte* because there was no demonstrated bias or prejudice.

Mr. Murphy contends that prospective juror 15 (seated as 8) was actually biased. Pet. 26. He did not object in the trial court, thus defaults to the RAP 2.5(a) requirements that "(1) the error is manifest and (2) the error is truly of constitutional dimension." *State v. J.W.M.*, 1 Wn.3d 58, 90, 524 P.3d 596 (2023) (quoting *State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d 91, 98, 217 P.3d 756 (2009)).1

4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Court of Appeals relied on both cases in its unpublished decision. *Murphy v. Med. Oncology Assocs.*, 2023 Wash. App. LEXIS 1230 \*14 (June 29, 2023).

Mr. Murphy must demonstrate actual prejudice, with clear "practical and identifiable consequences at trial." *Murphy v. Med. Oncology Assocs.*, 2023 Wash. App. LEXIS 1230 (June 29, 2023) (citing *State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d 918, 935, 155 P.3d 125 (2007)). "The court has a duty to act on a prospective juror's apparent bias or prejudice." *Murphy*, 2023 Wash. App. LEXIS 1230 \*14. In the civil context, RCW 2.36.110 "creates a mandatory duty to dismiss an unfit juror even in the absence of a challenge." *Id.* (quoting *State v. Lawler*, 194 Wn. App. 275, 284, 374 P.3d 278 (2016)).

"A juror demonstrates actual bias when he or she exhibits 'a state of mind . . . in reference to the action, or to either party, which satisfies the court that the challenged person cannot try the issue impartially and without prejudice to the substantial rights of the party challenging." *Murphy*, 2023 Wash. App. LEXIS 1230, \*14 (quoting RCW 4.44.170(2)). Accordingly, a juror "who has preconceived

ideas need not be excused if the jury credibly states that she or he can set those ideas aside and decide the case on the basis of the evidence presented and the law as instructed by the court." *Id.* (citing *State v. Rupe*, 108 Wn.2d 734, 748, 743 P.2d 210 (1987)). "To excuse a juror based on actual bias, the trial court 'must be satisfied, from all the circumstances, that the juror cannot disregard such opinion and try the case impartially." *Murphy*, 2023 Wash. App. LEXIS 1230, \*14 (quoting RCW 4.44.190).

A trial court decision to not dismiss a juror (*sua sponte* or otherwise) is reviewed under the manifest abuse of discretion standard. S*tate v. Noltie*, 116 Wn.2d 831, 839, 809 P.2d 190 (1991). Here, members of the venire were directly asked "Can you be fair?" RP at 86-87. Juror 8 responded "I believe I can be fair." RP at 91. Mr. Murphy's counsel and prospective juror 15 (seated as 8) engaged in the following colloquy:

[PROSPECTIVE] JUROR NO. 15: I mentioned earlier my slight experience with Dr. Chaudhry and you mentioning malpractice, I believe it was?

[PLAINTIFF'S COUNSEL]: Yes, negligence.

[PROSPECTIVE] JUROR NO. 15: I—I've had both good doctors and bad doctors in my experience. So I don't feel like I would have a bias I would express anyways or even have it internally. But I have been caught in the medical system, my family and myself, for generations literally. But I've seen both sides of it.

[PLAINTIFF'S COUNSEL]: And thank you again for sharing that. Maybe you could share a little more about your feelings here as far as being able to sit on this jury?

[PROSPECTIVE] JUROR NO. 15: I don't think I would have a problem, to answer you very generically. Personally, I don't know Dr. Chaudhry at all.

[PLAINTIFF'S COUNSEL]: Okay.

[PROSPECTIVE] JUROR NO. 15: But I know my brother's experience and what little bit I shared of that. And I know my mother was very close with Dr. Chaudhry during my brother's experience. However, like I say, that was years ago for me. But I would—I would have to take this case by case, just as I do everything else.

[PLAINTIFF'S COUNSEL]: Okay, that's good. Thank you.

And I guess the thing—do I have or my client have anything to fear here that because of your experience with your brother, you might lean one way or the other?

[PROSPECTIVE] JUROR NO. 15: I don't believe so, because I don't trust anybody's opinion, even my own sometimes, meaning that because my brother had a good experience with Dr. Chaudhry does not mean that I would or that his mother would have.

[PLAINTIFF'S COUNSEL]: Okay, thank you very much for sharing that.

RP at 103-04. The foregoing answers "cannot be characterized as even equivocal statements of bias or prejudice." *Murphy*, 2023 Wash. App. LEXIS \*19. Here, the Court of Appeals committed no errors in its analysis of the trial court's rulings (*sue sponte* or otherwise) nor does Mr. Murphy credibly show actual bias.

Mr. Murphy also argues that because proposed juror 25 revealed that his mother was a current patient of respondent Dr. Chaudhry, the trial court should have excused all similarly-situated venire members *sua sponte*. However, she, too, expressly stated "I can be fair." RP at 95.

Here, the Court of Appeals correctly held that Mr.

Murphy failed to demonstrate manifest constitutional error

because "he offers no legal authority or analysis supporting the proposition that a party has a constitutional right to disqualify a prospective juror if the party's adversary might have greater access to information about that juror." *Murphy*, 2023 Wash. App. LEXIS at \*19.

## B. The Court of Appeals correctly held that the cumulative error doctrine did not apply.

Mr. Murphy complains that certain testimony by Respondents Chaudry and Cutter, and defense expert Nichols regarding the informed consent claim was speculative, unduly prejudicial or violated the dead man's statute. However, Mr. Murphy failed to object, thus did not preserve alleged error on appeal. The Court of Appeals correctly held that the doctrine is "simply a recognition that the net impact of multiple small errors can still result in a prejudicial impact on the trial." *Murphy*, 2023 Wash. App. LEXIS \*22 (quoting *Rookstool v. Eaton*, 12 Wn. App. 2d 301, 311-12, 457 P.3d 1144 (2020)). Here, Mr. Murphy contends—and the Court of Appeals agrees—that

cumulative error is a constitutional issue, as stated in *Rookstool*, however, "a party must still present individually harmless *preserved* errors, or individually harmless manifest constitutional errors before asking this court to consider whether, cumulative, they operated to deprive the party of a fair trial." *Murphy*, 2023 Wash. App. LEXIS at \*22 (emphasis in original) (citing *State v. Clark*, 187 Wn.2d 641, 649, 389 P.3d 462 (2017)). Accordingly, Court of Appeals correctly held that the cumulative error doctrine does not apply.

## C. The Court of Appeals correctly held that there was no error in failing to *sua sponte* exclude unobjected-to testimony.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that Mr. Murphy's standing objection with respect to the trial court's ruling on the deadman's statute does not inexplicably extend to a "standing objection" on an entirely different issue, *i.e.*, preserving a challenge to respondents' purportedly speculative testimony. In sum, Mr. Murphy had no

standing objection on speculative testimony. *Murphy*, 2023 Wash. App. LEXIS at \*22.

# D. The Court of Appeals correctly held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in declining to bifurcate the wrongful death claim, sua sponte.

Mr. Murphy next contends that the trial court (not the Court of Appeals' decision affirming the trial court) abused its discretion by not severing or consider severing the individual- and representative-capacity claims such that the representative claim would not be allegedly prejudiced by the loss of the statute's testimonial protections.

In the Court of Appeals, Mr. Murphy admitted that the claims were joined by Mr. Murphy "as a matter of judicial economy." *Id.* at \*25. Accordingly, when "a personal representative chooses to join survival and wrongful death claims in the same action, and to proceed with the claims as joined after the ramifications for the dead man's statute are identified, any reasonable judge would infer that the personal representative views a single trial as most

convenient and least prejudicial. *Id.* (citing *Armstrong v. Marshall*, 146 S.W.2d 250, 252 (Tex. Ct. App. 1940)) (holding that because evidence was admissible as applied to the survival action, and no request was made to limit it to the other cause of action, appellants were in no position to complain of its admission). Likewise, Mr. Murphy submits no legal authority for the proposition that a trial court is *required to raise*, *sua sponte*, the question of bifurcation under CR 42(b).

# E. The Court of Appeals correctly held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Mr. Murphy's request for a new trial.

Mr. Murphy moved for a new trial under CR 59(a)(7), which by its express language, requires the moving party to prove that there is "no evidence or reasonable inference from the evidence to justify the verdict." Specifically, he moved for a new trial on *only one element* of informed consent, among four.

The trial court was required "to admit the truth of the nonmoving party's evidence" (Drs. Chaudhry and Cutter) "and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom." *Lewis v. Doll*, 53 Wn. App. 203, 207, 765 P.2d 1341, *review denied*, 112 Wn.2d 1027 (1989) (quoting *Levy v. N. Am. Co. for Life & Health Ins.*, 90 Wn.2d 846, 586 P.2d 845 (1978)). "If there is any justifiable evidence upon which reasonable minds might reach conclusions that sustain the verdict, the question is for the jury." *Id.* (quoting *Levy*, 90 Wn.2d at 586).

Here, the trial court found that the defense verdict was based on substantial evidence and denied Mr. Murphy's motion. CP 389. The decision to deny a motion for a new trial under CR 59 will not be reversed absent a strong showing of abuse of discretion. *Fritsch v. J.J. Newberry's, Inc.*, 43 Wn. App. 904, 905, 720 P.2d 845 (1986).

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Mr. Murphy's request for a new trial, and the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the ruling.

### V. CONCLUSION

Mr. Murphy received a fair trial before an objective, impartial jury. His constitutional due process rights were not violated. The jury heard competing expert opinions, among other evidence, before rendering a unanimous defense verdict. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying his motion for a new trial or in its evidentiary rulings. The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed those discretionary rulings. Respondents respectfully request that the Court deny discretionary review because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with no decision of the Supreme Court; the decision conflicts with no published decision of the Court of Appeals; there is no significant question of law under the state or United States

Constitution; and the petition involves no issue of substantial public interest.

<u>Certificate of Compliance</u>: The number of words contained in this document (exclusive of words referenced in RAP 18.17(b)), based on the word count calculation of Microsoft is 2,293.